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SUMMARY

The Fruitland Park Community Center, also commonly known as the Casino, is located at
604 West Berckman Street, Fruitland Park, Lake County, Florida. The Community Center
is a Frame Vernacular building built in 1914 by George T. Clark to house community
functions. The building is nominated to the National Register for local significance under
Criterion A for Social History and Government. The rectangular building is faced with
horizontal siding and has double-hung wood sash windows and a south facing verandah.
The hipped roof with broad eaves is covered in 3-V crimp metal, and the entire building
rests on a concrete block pier foundation. The interior has a large assembly center room
clad in tongue-and-groove wood walls with a chair-rail and vertical wainscoting. The west
end of the assembly hall has an open stage, flanked by two doors and hallways to the south
and north that access a kitchen, storage, and a dressing room. The east end of the assembly
room has bathrooms that were added in 1984.

SETTING

The Community Center is located on the southwest quarter of a block at the corner of
Berckman Street (east/west) and Rose Avenue (north/south). This lot has a lawn to the
south, and the block is occupied by small houses to the north. Laura Street runs east/west
behind the Center, and serves as an alleyway in the middle of the block. A residence sits
to the east of the Center property, and is what remains of the reconfigured 1907 Gardenia
Hotel. The city has streets laid out in an orthogonal configuration with buildings set back
from the roads, with plentiful lawns and mature trees. Two blocks to the east is State
Highway 441/27, the main north/south thoroughfare through the city. Fountain Lake is
located immediately to the west surrounded with open park property.

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION
Exterior

The Community Center typifies frame vernacular construction. It is a rectangular wood
frame building with a large hip roof covered with sheet metal set on a concrete block pier
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foundation. The exterior is surfaced with horizontal wood siding with 1/1 double hung
wood sash windows in paired arrangements on the fagade.

The south main facade fronts onto Berckman Street with a broad lawn between the

building and street, and is accessed via a driveway on the east side of the lot. Here, with
the western bay filled in for storage, the broad hip roof extends to shelter a verandah with
seven bays (Photo #1). Eight square wooden posts support the roof, and hand-rails with
lattice-work span the posts. Five central steps access the porch and central double wooden
doors topped by a transom (Photo #2). Three windows are to the east of the entrance, and
one to the west, each with a pair of sashes. The hip metal roof has two shed dormers on its
south slope, each with three two-light slide windows. Visible to the east, and setback

from the south wall, is a shed roofed extension surfaced with horizontal siding. There is a
single door at the juncture with the main body of the building. The broad shed roof

extends to shelter a sidewalk and wheelchair ramp.

The west elevation fronts onto Rose Avenue which runs north/south. The building wall
extends a foot beyond the enclosure at the southwest corner (Photo #3). The storage
enclosure at the south corner has screen across the top for ventilation. The elevation has
six windows in total with two small single wooden sash windows centrally placed, and two
larger single windows flanking the center two.

The north elevation is the broad-side of the rectangular building, and has an exterior small
brick chimney that pierces the roof eave near the west corner (Photo #4). Closer to the
west corner is a single window with a pair of wood sashes. The remainder of the exterior
wall to the east has five paired 1/1 windows, evenly spaced. The extension of the east
addition, sheltered by a shed roof, rests on a continuous concrete block foundation.

The east elevation is sheltered by the shed roofed extension, with two awning windows
piercing the top portion of the wall (Photo #5). The shed roof extension is supported by
five steel Lollie columns and the south four columns support the steel handrail for a
wheelchair ramp. The side view of the south verandah is visible.
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Interior

The main double doors lead to the large assembly room (Photo #6), with windows lining
the south and north walls. The wood floors are surfaced with linoleum, and the walls with
tongue-and-groove board wainscoting and a chair-rail. The walls are further accented by
ornamental molding between and around doors and windows. The ceiling is drop acoustic-
tile over a wood ceiling, installed to conceal heating-and-air ducts. To the west side of the
main room is an open stage with steps at the right side (Photo #7). The stage is flanked by
doors. The door and hall beside the stage to the south leads to a kitchen that spans the west
side of the building (Photo #8). The north side of that space is partitioned for a storage
room (Photo #9). Historically the storage room functioned as theatrical changing rooms.
The door and hall beside the stage to the north is a woman'’s dressing room for theatrical
uses. At the east side of the main room is a centrally located open entry (Photo #10) into
the eastern extension that contains bathrooms (Photo #11).

ALTERATIONS

The Community Center mostly encompasses a large assembly room big enough to hold
several hundred people, although current building code restricts that number to one-
hundred persons. The kitchen storage room was at one time used for the theatrical
productions. In 1946, rest rooms on the west end of the porch were added (which today
are storage areas for the Boy Scouts). Air-conditioning was added around 1975, and ducts
were hidden behind drop ceilings. Prior to climate control, the dormer windows in the roof
functioned to vent out rising air. In 1980, the east elevation extension was added to house
men’s and women’s rest rooms and a handicap access. A water tower that once stood on
the grounds was removed during the historic period.



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 8 Page 1 FRUITLAND PARK COMMUNITY
CENTER, FRUITLAND PARK, LAKE
COUNTY, FLORIDA

SUMMARY

The Fruitland Park Community Center, also known colloquially as the Casino, is
nominated to the National Register for local significance under Criterion A in the areas of
Social History and Government. The period of significance is 1914 to 1965. Since the
construction of the Community Center in 1914, the public facility has served numerous
and frequent events for the residents of Fruitland Park and surrounding communities.
Immediate early uses included regular meetings of the Chamber of Commerce and the
local government, as well as recreational events. In November of 1924, public discussions
were held in the Community Center with regard to incorporation of the town, and in
December of 1925, the public voted to incorporate with a town council. With its large
central room and a stage at the west end, the Community Center has been the hub of civic
and public activity for the small city of Fruitland Park and the surrounding region for over
one-hundred years.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

The Fruitland Park area had a few early and short lived settlements. Prior to the Civil War,
P.S. Bouknight homesteaded forty acres of land by Mirror Lake located about one
thousand feet south of the present location of the Community Center. His log home was
torn down after he abandoned the area. M. Calvin Lee of Leesburg, the largest settlement
in the region, set out a twelve acre grove. Lee and several other pre-Civil War settlers
would abandon the area by the time Orlando P. Rooks arrived in 1876.

In 1875, a Captain William H. Kendrick from Tampa, who was promoting Florida,
encouraged a man from Missouri, Orlando P. Rooks, to visit and settle in Florida. Rooks
traveled to Jacksonville, took the St. Johns River as far as Silver Springs, where he hired a
horse-drawn coach to get to the settlement of Leesburg in January of 1876. Leesburg was
the largest settlement in the area at the time, roughly three and one-half miles from what
would become Fruitland Park. Leesburg become the County seat in 1881, surrounded by
small agricultural and retirement communities. He made a homestead claim to 160 acres
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adjacent to Crystal Lake.Having cultivated land and constructed a home by 1877, Rooks
sent for his wife Josephine who arrived in December of 1878. Rooks was interested in
horticulture and started an orange grove. He was known for cultivating a wide variety of
citrus as well as olives and pineapples.

An Englishman named Granville Chetwynd Stapylton came to Leesburg in 1882, looking
to develop a colony for other Englishmen. Stapleton met Rooks, and together they
discussed how to develop the land. Rooks offered land and right-of-way so that the
Florida Southern Railroad Company, from Ocala to Leesburg, would lay tracks adjacent to
his settlement. Work started in Ocala in June 1883, and extended to Leesburg by
December 1883. On January20884, the first train arrived in Fruitland Park.

Rooks named the town Fruitland Park after a friend’s business, Fruitland Nursery, in
Augusta, Georgid. George H. Long, a civil engineer for the railroad, surveyed and platted
the town. The plat was filed on November 1, 1883. Berckman Street, a main east/west
road through Fruitland Park, along which the Community Center and City Hall were built,
was named for Prosper Jules Berckman who owned the Fruitland Nurseiy84, a

Mrs. Kingsley began teaching school in her family’s new store, thus establishing the first
store and school in town. A separate school building was erected in 1885. A Methodist
congregation was organized at the end of 1884, and their frame church was built in 1886.
Holy Trinity Episcopal Church was formed in 1886, and the church was built in 1888.

In addition to encouraging English settlers to Fruitland Park, Stapylton had a company,
Stapylton & Company, who bought land around Zephyr Lake and Lake Ella, just north of
Fruitland Park, and started a town called Chetwynd in 1886. A boarding house was built

! Lillian D. Vicker-Smith, “The History of Fruitland Park, Florida,” Fruitland Park, Florida: Fruitland Park
Chamber of Commerce, 1925; “Who Was Orlando P. Rooks,” FruitlandParkNews.org, April 8, 2014,
accessed May 1, 2015.

2 “1776-1876-1976, Heritage, Faith, Challenge: Fruitland Park’'s Centennial,” 1976, p.12.

3 William T. Kennedy, editor, “History of Lake County, Florida,” Tavares, Florida: Lake County Historical
Society, 1929, p.30&134.

4 (www.georgiaencyclopedia.ortpusiness & economy — agriculture — Berckmans Blyrs(accessed April

7, 2015).
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in which English visitors could stay and consider settling. In the settlement next to Spring
Lake, another store was started in 1885. The company instructed visitors on cultivating
citrus and promoted the idea that it was a predictable source of income. The company
would plant groves for new buyers. A community social hall, known as Zephyr Hall,
housed all gatherings such as theater shows, musicals, dances, and what were termed
“casino nights.” Members of the private social club called the “Bucket and Dipper Club”
met at Zephyr Hall. The English settlers in particular were fond of outdoor sports
including horse racing, hunting and fishing. Stapylton would also establish a bank in
Leesburg.

The deep freezes of the winters of 1894-95 decimated the citrus industry all across Florida,
and killed most citrus trees except in South Florida. This resulted in an economic hardship
for many of Fruitland Park’s early settlers. Many moved away to other parts of the state or
back to England.

The Fruitland Park community would develop incrementally after this point, and sustained
the necessary elements of a functioning small towite non-denominational Shiloh
Cemetery was organized in 1896, and deeded to the town the next year when S.F. Smith
donated land from what was known as his “Old Plantation Farm.” By the time the deed
was completed, two people had been interred. Until that time people were either buried in
Leesburg or in the Trinity Episcopal Church y&rdohn D. Robertson in 1906, bought

pine forest land and set up a turpentine still. Robertson continued to purchase pine land,
and in 1913 sold some to the newly organized Lake County Land Owner’s Association.
The Association promoted Fruitland Park and paved the roads with clay. The Association
kept an office in the large 1907 Gardenia Hotel, on the block where the Community Center
now stands. By 1915 a two room school was built followed by a Baptist church in 1916,
and a Catholic church in 1921The Association’s George T. Clark and brother J.Y. had
electricity run from Leesburg to town. In 1922, the new Fruitland Park Water Company
acquired small private suppliers and provided the town with water. Fruitland Park was
incorporated on December 14, 1925, and formally established a government. T.B. Stinson

5 Per historical census records, individuals are frequently identified only by their initials and last name.
6 “1776-1876-1976,” p.21; Kennedy, p.43.
7 Kennedy, p.43.
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became mayor. In 1926 the town hired Geo. H. Ruhling and Company of Orlando to
resurvey and expand the town. As a leader in the Lake County Land Owners Association,
George T. Clark thought Fruitland Park needed a Community Center, or “Casino,” to serve
as a civic and recreational center.

HISTORICAL SIGNIFICANCE

George T. Clark was a Fruitland Park resident, promoter, and a builder who envisioned a
community building suitable for all types of public gatherings. In 1914, he built what the
locals have called the “Casino.” This reflects & t&ntury use of the word to denote a

public facility devoted to recreational activities, not necessarily gambling. This building
was constructed on property that was a part of the Gardenia Hotel, which Clark owned.
Within a couple of years, W.G. Dwight and his wife would buy the Community Center

from Clark (exact date unknown). The Dwights had moved to Fruitland Park in 1906 from
Massachusetts, and became philanthropists for the town. Two of their favorite causes were
the Holy Trinity Episcopal Church and the Leesburg High School. They made the Center
available to everyone and helped with the ongoing maintenance. Mr. Dwight died in 1930,
and in 1948 his widow donated the Community Center to Fruitland®Park.

From its construction to the present, the Community Center has served many types of
community events, for not only Fruitland Park, but for the surrounding small towns.

The Community Center served an essential function in this rural area, much like the
services provided at the National Register-listed Spring Lake Community Center near
Brooksville (NR 2009). Built as a New Deal project in 1938, and located at a rural cross
road several miles from Hernando County’s largest city of Brooksville, the Spring Lake
Community Center served every social and civic function for the area. Over time, the civic
identity is associated with such a facility. Most rural Florida towns did not have
auditoriums or public spaces in which to accommodate a broad range of public activities,
and to this day the Fruitland Park Community Center is largest assembly area for the city
and surrounding communities. Fruitland Park’s Community Center is unusual in that
throughout its historic period, the local government also operated out of the facility.

8 Schofield, Maria J., “The City of Fruitland Park, Florida: The Beginning of a New Era,” Fruitland Park,
Florida: Fruitland Park Library, 2001.
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An extensive list of historic activities hosted in the Community Center was derived largely
from The Tampa Tribune micro-film records available through the Leesburg library.

Rather than list events chronologically, uses are grouped by governmental functions, civic
engagements, and social functions.

Governmental Functions

From the time the building was constructed in 1914, the Fruitland Park Improvement
Association held their monthly meetings at the Community Center, which included the
reports from its various committees. The Association functioned as a quasi-form of local
government until the town officially incorporated. The Fruitland Park Chamber of
Commerce who promoted business concerns, began holding their monthly meetings at the
Community Center in 1915. At their monthly meeting on November 27, 1924, the
Fruitland Park Chamber of Commerce had the incorporation of the town as their main
topic. T. G. Futch, a local attorney, spoke on the pros and cons of incorporation. Then the
meeting was opened to the public for discussion. After a year of discussion, on December
15, 1925, a town wide meeting was held to vote on incorporating the town. The vote of
more than 200 citizens was unanimous to incorporate, and the name of the Fruitland Park
Improvement Association was changed to the Fruitland Park Town Council. Elected to the
town’s first government was T. B. Stinson as mayor with H. W. Palmer as Clerk. Joseph
Lee was elected as marshal, and the following were elected as councilmen: W. H. Bickley,
H. L. Cowles, E. T. Gould, D. F. Hammond, A. W. Smith, G. R. Smith and Charles Ury.

At a follow-up meeting on December 29, 1925, members agreed that the Council would
meet at the Community Center every Thursday evening at 7:30 o’clock until further notice.
After Fruitland Park incorporated in 1925, the Center became a voting precinct, which it
remains to this day.

On March 12, 1929, the Town Council, grateful to the Dwight family for allowing use of
the Center at no charge, voted to reimburse their annual tax on the property. The Town
Council continued to meet at the Community Center until 1967, when they relocated
activities to a remodeled Gulf Service Station.
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The Community Center was the site of the city court where the mayor presided. An
example of how the city court operated is illustrated by the case of several young boys who
broke windows of houses adjacent to the railroad section. They were arrested by the town
constable and brought before the mayor. They were fined $5.00 each and sent home to be
punished by their parents.

At the Fruitland Park Town Council meeting on May 3, 1948, plans were made to host a
gathering for the Lake County League of Municipal Cites on June 23rd. All towns in the
5t congressional district were represented at the meeting accompanied by a fish fry dinner.

Civic Engagements

Many Fruitland Park civic groups meet monthly at the Community Center. All of them

held fund raising events as well as hosting public social occasions. The following
organizations met monthly at the center (starting dates and names are given): in 1921, St.
Paul's Catholic Church’s Pioneer Club; in 1922, Community Club; in 1923, The Holy
Trinity Guild, Fruitland Park Serving Club, Fruitland Park Mother’s Club (later becoming
the Parent Teacher Association), Fruitland Park Musical Club, and the Fruitland Park
Christian Endeavor; in 1924, The Woman'’s Civic League; in 1940, Boy Scouts; in 1948,
the fire department and a woman’s auxiliary; in 1954, the Fruitland Lions Club.

Musical events were popular and often used as fund raisers. In 1924, the musical cantata
“Ruth” was sponsored by the Holy Trinity Guild, and concerts were presented by the
Musical Club, the Woman'’s Civic League, and the Chamber of Commerce.

The Mother’s Club reformed as the Parent Teacher Association (PTA) at their September
16, 1931 meeting. The next year the Fruitland Park PTA hosted the Lake County Council
of PTA who met at the Center with 60 people attending. Also in 1932, the PTA put on a
Christmas program with decorations and entertainment provided by the children. They
sponsored a Founder’s Day “colonial silver tea” on February 17, 1933 that featured
exhibits of antiques and quilts.

9 Rainey, Janis, interview, May 2015.
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The fire department and woman'’s auxiliary hosted many chicken and spaghetti suppers at
the Community Center to support the department. They initiated the very popular bingo
night which was held every Friday night, and kept it suitable for all ages.

Social Functions

From the Leesburg Commercial newspaper, on March 9, 1917, the headlines read:
“Masquerade Ball - Big Event of the Week at the Park - Wonderful Collection - Who's
Who.” The Masquerade Ball, the first affair of this type to be held at the Community
Center, was also the first to be held in the Park for many years. The entire town of
Fruitland Park, as well as from the surrounding areas, were invited to attend in costume.

Only one month after the masquerade ball the United States entered World War | in
Europe. During the war, local women and many children met at the Community Center to
knit sweaters, socks and mufflers for the servicemen. During that time the Center became
a place where copies of the local newspaper were kept for public reading and reference.

The Community Center was used for commencements from the local grammar and
elementary schools, May Day festivals with the May King and Queen, and popular
Christmas Eve dances. The Christmas Eve dance of 1929 drew seventy-five couples from
the surrounding communitié$.

The Committee for Street Lighting Fund for the Fruitland Park Improvement Association
held a musical fund raiser in November 1924, with Florence Gilbert Manscom appearing
in costume to do readings, pianologues, and songs with Mrs. Lawrence Smith as her
accompanist.

10 The Tampa Tribune, May 7, 1925; December 25, 1929.
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During the early formation of the Fruitland Park Baptist Church, church services were held
at the Community Center in 1957, until their new church was built on the south side of
Berckman Street.

With many civic groups meeting on a continual basis at the Community Center and hosting
public events, to this day the Center actively serves the town. George T. Clark died on
March 11, 1918, but his vision of the Fruitland Park Community Center, also known as the
“Casino,” filled an enduring need that continues to the present.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Fruitland Park E 165 FT of W 189 FT Sof Laurel St BLK 20 PB, 3 PGS 8-9
Parcel # 09-19-24-040002000002

Alternate Key 1248663

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

This property has been historically associated with the Fruitland Park Community Center,
also known as the Casino.
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PHOTOGRAHIC LIST

604 Berckman Street, Fruitland Park

Lake County, Florida

Judy Rainey

March 2015

Fruitland Park Community Center, looking north
Photo #1 of 11
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The remaining information is the same for the remaining photographs.

5. Main door, looking north
6. Photo #2 of 11

5. West elevation, looking east
6. Photo #3 of 11

5. North elevation and northwest corner, looking southeast
6. Photo #4 of 11

5. East elevation, looking west
6. Photo #5 of 11

5. Interior of main room, south wall and main entry, looking south
6. Photo #6 of 11

5. West side of main room with stage and side hallways, looking west
6. Photo #7 of 11

5. Kitchen, looking west
6. Photo #8 of 11
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Storage room, looking north
Photo #9 of 11
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South end of main room with entry to bathrooms, looking east
Photo #10 of 11
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Men’s bathroom, looking north
Photo #11 of 11
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